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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Richmond Division


CAROLYN WITT, et, als.
on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.	Civil Action No.: 3:15-cv-386


CORELOGIC SAFERENT, LLC, et, al.


Defendants.

PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

COME NOW, the Plaintiffs, by counsel, on behalf of themselves and all  similarly situated individuals, and for their response to Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration, they state as follows:
I. OVERVIEW

Defendants are really now simply using “standing” as a way resurrect their same rejected arguments that Plaintiffs fail to state a legal claim. They assert that the Plaintiffs have not pled standing because, Defendants argue, Plaintiffs have not alleged that they suffered any violation of the FCRA. There is very little in the new Motion (for “Reconsideration”) that argues in any detail the real question s to Article II standing raised in most defense cases – whether notwithstanding the proof of a violation that violation is itself sufficient to provide standing and subject matter jurisdiction. But that is not what Defendants herein argue. They deny that there is standing because they argue there are no FCRA violations adequately pled.  There is nothing
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new here for the Court to consider as a basis to reverse its proper decision.


II. THE	COURT	SHOULD	DENY	DEFENDANTS	MOTION	AS	IT	IS PROCEDURALLY IMPROPER
Defendants’ “Motion for Reconsideration” is procedurally improper. First, it is largely based on a challenge to jurisdictional standing – an argument and basis nowhere found in Defendants’ actual Motion and supporting brief. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 7(b)(1)(B)(requiring a movant to “state with particularity the grounds for seeking” the relief sought by the motion). Defendants cannot properly ask “reconsideration” of a Court’s ruling as to a particular motion where the basis for reconsideration was never presented in the opening motion.  Brainware, Inc. v. Scan-Optics, Ltd., 3:11CV755, 2012 WL 3555410, at *3 (E.D. Va. Aug. 16, 2012) (Rejecting a motion for Reconsideration based in part on the defendant’s failure to have included the new information and argument in the original motion).1
Further, to the extent Defendants do assert the same basis for dismissal raised in their original motion, they are literally asserting the same basis raised in their original motion – Defendants are simply rearguing their original motion because they disagree with the Court’s reasoning and conclusions. The bases for a motion for reconsideration “rarely arise” and thus, “the motion to reconsider should be equally rare.’” U.S. v. Smithfield Foods, 969 F.Supp. 975, 977 (E.D.Va.1997) (quotations and citations omitted). As this Court has repeatedly explained, such a motion should only be considered, “[s]o long as a party does not merely seek to reargue a previous claim[.]”  Glenn v. Inland Container Corp., CIV. A. 3:92CV27, 1992 WL 521517, at
*1 (E.D. Va. May 13, 1992), aff'd, 991 F.2d 789 (4th Cir. 1993).  As Defendants acknowledge,



1 Ironically, if the Court had somehow invented and granted a standing basis for dismissal upon a defense motion silent on such an issue, that order would have been properly challenged on reconsideration as “a decision outside the adversarial issues presented to the Court by the parties.” Above the Belt, Inc. v. Mel Bohannan Roofing, Inc., 99 F.R.D. 99 (E.D.Va.1983).
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such a motion may only be considered under circumstances where it “has patently misunderstood a party, or has made a decision outside the adversarial issues presented to the Court by the parties, or has made an error not of reasoning but of apprehension.” Brainware, Inc., 2012 WL 3555410, at *2 (quotations and citations omitted).
Procedurally, Defendants also fail to recognize this earlier posture and the lower bar offered by Rule 8. Instead, both its original briefs and its current memorandum are largely abridged summary judgment briefs, demanding substantially more than required by Rule 8(a)(2). (Requiring “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.”). Taken in their most favorable light, the facts as alleged in the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) are sufficient for the Court to have found the claim for FCRA violations to be plausible. In fact, this is particularly so when Standing is challenged at a Rule 12(b) posture. Here because Defendants challenge subject matter jurisdiction and standing at this early stage, “Plaintiffs enjoy procedural safeguards similar to those they would enjoy when opposing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.” N. Carolina Motorcoach Ass'n v. Guilford Cty. Bd. of Educ., 315 F. Supp. 2d 784, 790 (M.D.N.C. 2004)(citing Adams v. Bain, 697 F.2d 1213, 1219 (4th Cir.1982)). At such a posture, “the Court will accept Plaintiffs' allegations as true, construing them most favorably to Plaintiffs, and will rely solely on the pleadings, disregarding affidavits or other materials, to determine whether Plaintiffs' Complaint contains sufficient allegations to support subject matter jurisdiction.” Id.
III. DEFENDANTS REFUSE TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE FACTS ALLEGED IN THE AMENDED COMPLAINT

Taken in their most favorable light with all reasonable inferences, Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts to state a plausible claim for the violations alleged. And of course the Court held that this was true.  Yet, Defendants either demand far more than Rule 8 requires or refuse to
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concede any reasonable inferences that may be taken from the facts as alleged. Instead, Defendants complain that Plaintiffs have not alleged the exact date, specific criminal records or name of end-user employers in their basic Amended Complaint. None of these are required to state a plausible claim.
The SAC alleged that each Plaintiff “applied for employment-related opportunities.” And in that regard were each “the subject of a consumer report from the Reseller-User that contained a derogatory public record received in a consumer report from NBD.” SAC, ¶¶15, 18. As the Court properly found, the Amended Complaint offered examples as to each Plaintiff. “Approximately three years ago”, Mr. Allen sought a position and procured a job offer “which was withdrawn because of criminal record information that NBD supplied about him.” Id., ¶21. The same happened to Mr. Edwards, who “about four years ago”, “sought a position for which he believes he was disqualified because of the information that NBD supplied about him.”  Id.,
¶23. During the last five years, “NBD sold [Mr. Hackett’s] report to one or more of its customers, including, but not limited to, Verifications and FirstPoint” when he “applied for employment for several positions” and was denied such employment “because of the information that NBD supplied about him.” Id., ¶24. Similarly, “one or two years ago”, “five years ago” and “four years ago” respectively, Plaintiffs White, Roberts and Stanley each had sought a position as a security officer, which offers were withdrawn “because of the information that NBD supplied about” them. Id., ¶¶25, 26, 27.
Defendants would fairly concede that Witt’s alleged facts far exceed a Rule 8 threshold, as it contains all of the minor facts Defendants assert necessary in their contrived heightened pleading standard. The SAC alleges that in February 2012, Witt interviewed for employment with CMA; CMA requested a background check from HR Plus, which then obtained a consumer
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report from Defendants. Furthermore, the reports that Defendant SafeRent provided to National Background Data contained several “hits” attributed to Plaintiff Witt, including purported criminal conviction public records contained within SafeRent’s database. SAC, ¶29. The criminal conviction public records that Defendant SafeRent attributed to Plaintiff Witt did not belong to her. Instead, they concerned one or more different individuals with a similar name that were entirely unrelated to Plaintiff Witt. For example, Plaintiff Witt’s consumer report inaccurately stated that she had an extensive criminal history, which included several felonies and a prison sentence. Id., ¶30. As the Court summarized, “Plaintiffs Allen, Edwards, Hackett, White, Roberts, Stanley, and Witt further specify that NBD provided their background checks in conjunction with employment applications that occurred within the last five years. SAC ¶¶ 21, 23-27. Each of those background checks contained criminal record “hits” attributed to the enumerated Plaintiffs. Id. ¶ 38. Furthermore, each of those Plaintiffs alleges that he or she was denied employment based on the information supplied by SafeRent and NBD. Id. ¶¶ 21, 23-27.” Witt v. CoreLogic SafeRent, LLC, 3:15-CV-386, 2016 WL 1441369, at *3 (E.D. Va. Apr. 8, 2016).
Each of the reports that Defendant SafeRent provided to National Background Data contained criminal record “hits” attributed to the Plaintiffs. SAC, ¶38. Each of these “criminal conviction public records were likely to have an adverse effect on the Class Plaintiffs’ ability to obtain or maintain employment.” Id., ¶39. Defendants use a “database index” and thus are not the types of entities that can avail themselves of the compliance option set forth at 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(2). This section can only be applicable if Defendant SafeRent had in place—before any report was furnished—strict procedures designed to ensure that it did not furnish or include in its reports any public records for which it did not receive, possess, or provide the complete and
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up-to-date public record. Id., ¶42. But a different way, the SAC alleged that a § 1681k(a)(2) option is not available to Defendant SafeRent because the public records it furnishes to third parties are summaries, indexes, or partial records that it obtains from its courthouse sources.  Id.,
¶43. Plaintiffs properly alleged that “Defendant SafeRent never furnishes the complete and up- to-date public record” and they offer an example that Defendant “does not use a SSN field for the public records it includes in its consumer reports, and even in the instances in which its database index picked up a SSN field, it strips out this field before providing the report to its reseller customers.” Id. 2 The SAC explains, in accordance with its standard procedure, Defendant SafeRent purchased or obtained criminal records in bulk and thus without the identifying information, such as social security numbers. In fact, Defendant SafeRent obtains social security numbers from less than one percent of the jurisdictions from which it obtains criminal records. Id., ¶44.
Defendants real gripe is that Plaintiffs have not provided them all of the facts known in the world, rather than just those necessary to fairly inform the Defendants of the claims and to thus plausibly state a claim. Defendants demand the name of the end-user, the exact information that they (Defendants) furnished, the exact dates they (Defendants) furnished the reports and all instances of specific incomplete records they (Defendants) furnished. All of this information is of course known in such detail only to Defendants, as their very business model is designed to hide such details form the consumer.  As the Plaintiffs allege (and Defendants cannot deny), the


2 While in Henderson v. Corelogic NBD, the Court did not find that the omission of SSNs renders a record incomplete as a matter of law, it did so on Summary Judgment and of course did not foreclose the possibility that a jury may find that this omission was dispositive as a matter of fact.  Henderson v. Corelogic Nat'l Background Data, LLC, 3:12CV97, 2016 WL 1574048, at
*13 (E.D. Va. Apr. 18, 2016) (“Whether social security numbers are necessary for completeness is not, as Plaintiffs would have it, a matter of law. Rather, that is a matter of fact.”)
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Defendants never reveal to the consumer that they are the source from which this original report was generated and repeatedly sold. SAC, ¶2. This failure consistently frustrated the ability of plaintiffs and class members “to understand where the information at issue originates and to dispute inaccurate information.” Id., ¶2.
Having alleged that  all of  Defendants’ reports are  incomplete and  do not  satisfy § 1681k(a)(2), the SAC also plainly states that none of the Plaintiffs received a §1681k(a)(1) notice because Defendants refuse as to all consumers to send one. SAC, ¶¶41,
Defendants did not have a permissible purpose to provide the Class Plaintiffs’ and putative class members’ consumer reports to their customers. SAC, ¶75. The SAC more than adequately alleges facts necessary to have stated a claim for violation of the FCRA impermissible use sections. See,  e.g. §§1681b, 1681e(a) 1681e(e). Plaintiffs alleged that Defendants obtained and used their private consumer reports “without a permissible purpose in the process of reselling them through its customers, including HR Plus, to prospective employers.” SAC, ¶4. NBD procured a consumer report from SafeRent regarding them for purposes of reselling at least part of the report when it had not established and complied with reasonable procedures designed to ensure that the report or information was resold by NBD only for a permissible purpose for which the information could be furnished pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§1681b. For example, as part of this obligation, NBD was specifically required by this section of the statute to obtain from HR Plus and its other resellers the identity of the “end user” of the resold report. It never – under any circumstances or for any class members – obtained the details of the identity of the end user employer as required by 15 U.S.C. §1681e(e)(2)(A)(i). Id., ¶5. If the Court were to accept the argument that these reports were not sold for an employment purpose, then the sale of data from SafeRent to National Background Data, and then from
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National Background Data to its reseller customers occurred without a permissible purpose for either the sale or the use, thus violating 15 U.S.C. §1681b(a) and 15 U.S.C. §1681b(f). Id.,  ¶46. If the Defendants did not furnish Class Plaintiffs’ and the putative class members’ reports for an employment purpose, then three separate and distinct violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act took place. Id., ¶48. Defendant SafeRent’s sale of the consumer report to Defendant National Background Data was a violation of 15 U.S.C. §1681b(a) committed by Defendant SafeRent. Id.,
¶49. Defendant’s National Background Data’s use of the consumer report that it purchased from Defendant SafeRent violated 15 U.S.C. §1681b(f). Id., ¶50. Defendant National Background Data’s resale of the consumer report that it purchased from Defendant SafeRent to its various reseller customers violated 15 U.S.C. §1681b(a). Id., ¶51. Each of the Defendants would have independently also violated 15 U.S.C. §1681e(a). Each would have had to require that prospective users of the information certify the purpose for which the information was sought, and also certify that the information would be used for no other purpose. Further, neither Defendant could have furnished a consumer report to any entity if it had reasonable grounds for believing that the consumer report would not be used for a permissible purpose. Id., ¶52.
Thus, as imperfect as the Second Amended Complaint may be – lacking some of the detail Plaintiffs will need to discover directly from these Defendants prior to Summary Judgment
– the pleading more than adequately meets the Rule 8 threshold for both merits and Article III jurisdiction.
IV. THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE DEMONSTRATED CONCRETE AND PARTICULARIZED INJURY RESULTING FROM THE DEFENDANTS’ FCRA VIOLATIONS, AND THUS HAVE ARTICLE III STANDING.

A. Defendants	Grossly	Misstate	Spokeo	Specifically	and	Standing Jurisprudence Generally.
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In their reconsideration motion, the defendants try to characterize the Supreme Court’s recent decision in Spokeo v. Robins, Inc., 136 S. Ct. 1540 (2016), as holding far more than it actually does. They contend that Spokeo established new principles concerning “threshold pleading requirements” under Rule 8, as well as Article III standing’s causation prong. See Mot. 2, 5-6. Even a cursory read of Spokeo, however, reveals that the Court did nothing of the sort: its decision concerned only Article III’s injury-in-fact requirement. And, contrary to the defendant’s assertion (at 6) that “[t]he Court ultimately remanded the case to the Ninth Circuit because it had failed to consider both aspects of the injury-in-fact requirement,” the Supreme Court remanded the cases solely because the Ninth Circuit had “overlooked” the “concreteness” requirement in that case. Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1545.
The defendants seek to obfuscate the fact that all the Court did in Spokeo was reiterate that Article III requires that an alleged injury-in-fact be both concrete and particularized and provide limited guidance as to what constitutes a concrete injury. And at the “[a]t the pleading stage, general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant's conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss we presum[e] that general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.” Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992). Under longstanding precedent, expressly reaffirmed by the Court in Spokeo, the plaintiffs’ allegations that the defendants failed to provide them information required under the FCRA—information that Congress determined was necessary to reduce the serious risk of inaccuracies unfairly harming consumers’ employment prospects—satisfy Article III’s injury-in-fact requirement.
In fact, the undersigned how now had the opportunity to review a substantial share of the Article III standing cases decided before the Supreme Court as well as the Fourth Circuit and others.  There is nothing new in the Spokeo text or analysis that has not been long written and in
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place. While all sides are in a panic to parse and cite sentences favorable to their respective sides in the Court’s Spokeo opinion, its application needs to consider the governing law in place prior to this unremarkable decision.
As our Circuit explained in one of its most-oft cited decisions, “The injury in fact requirement precludes those with merely generalized grievances from bringing suit to vindicate an interest common to the entire public.” Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 156 (4th Cir. 2000) (citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 575, 112 S.Ct. 2130). To meet this requirement, “He must somehow differentiate himself from the mass of people who may find the conduct of which he complains to be objectionable only in an abstract sense. In other words, the alleged injury ‘must affect the plaintiff in a personal and individual way.’” Id. The standing inquiry ensures that a plaintiff has a sufficient personal stake in a dispute to render judicial resolution appropriate. Allen v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 750-51, 104 S.Ct. 3315, 82 L.Ed.2d 556 (1984). Spokeo addressed this component of injury in fact in the context of a FCRA claim using an example regarding “if a consumer reporting agency fails to provide the required notice to a user of the agency's consumer information.” Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1550 (2016), as revised (May 24, 2016). Under most circumstances, notices to users (whether accurate or inaccurate) do not present a cognizable harm to the consumer. As Justice Thomas explained in his concurrence, “The injury-in-fact requirement often stymies a private plaintiff's attempt to vindicate the infringement of public rights. The Court has said time and again that, when a plaintiff seeks to vindicate a public right, the plaintiff must allege that he has suffered a ‘concrete’ injury particular to himself.” Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1552, Thomas concurring (2016), as revised (May 24, 2016). “But the concrete-harm  requirement  does  not  apply  as  rigorously  when  a  private  plaintiff  seeks  to

10
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vindicate his own private rights. Our contemporary decisions have not required a plaintiff to assert an actual injury beyond the violation of his personal legal rights to satisfy the “injury-in- fact” requirement.” Id. Here, the person entitled to the protections mandated by Congress is the Consumer himself – the person seeking to vindicate a violation of his personal legal rights. That is the real core issue underlying Spokeo.3
Defendants argue, “Spokeo is  also  clear  that,  in  a  situation  where  any  information

transmitted is accurate and/or inaccurate in ways that would have no impact on the consumer, then standing is  lacking. Id. at *17-18  (“[N]ot all  inaccuracies cause harm  or present any material risk of harm.”).”.  They actually claim that Spokeo stands for the proposition that proof of an inaccurate consumer report is required to assert standing based upon a FCRA violation. The decision says nothing of that sort. The language upon which Defendants rely pertained to the specific claim alleged in Spokeo and was offered to illustrate the lack of harm from an inaccurate notice provided to a “user.” Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1550. Yet even with the remand to the Ninth Circuit pending, the decision in Spokeo makes sense under a §1681e(b) claim. In Spokeo the consumer asserted that Spokeo had furnished a consumer report without following “reasonable procedures”. The Court questioned and sent in remand for decision whether the lack of inaccuracy (or any material inaccuracy) in the report would mean that the reporting agency had violated the reasonable procedures claim without any adverse effect or violation of a Congressionally intended right and interest regarding the actual plaintiff-consumer. But that is a decision that ends up largely confined to a §1681e(b) claim and is not controversial.   A section
3 While the Supreme Court discusses the issues addressed there and here as part of the “concreteness” component of an “injury in fact”. Much of the analysis therein also regards or overlaps with the “particularity” requirement. Nevertheless, “While each of the three prongs of standing should be analyzed distinctly, their proof often overlaps.” Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 154 (4th Cir. 2000)

11
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designed and enacted for the single purpose of requiring accurate reports does not offer a cognizable claim without an inaccurate report.4
Here, the claims are different. Section 1681k(a) serves multiple functions, but is largely constructed to cause employment-report public record CRAs to send a contemporaneous notice intended to open a series of prophylactic rights to obtain information, dispute it and preempt it with a user (including end-users). And the FCRA has a number of concurrent purposes, with accuracy only a part:
It is the purpose of this subchapter to require that consumer reporting agencies adopt reasonable procedures for meeting the needs of commerce for consumer credit, personnel, insurance, and other information in a manner which is fair and equitable to the consumer, with regard to the confidentiality, accuracy, relevancy, and proper utilization of such information in accordance with the requirements of this subchapter.

15 U.S.C. §1681(b). As addressed below, these same purposes include concern over employment reports generally and consumer’s right to avoid the public sharing of their private information.
But there are also a couple additional points that should be understood regarding Spokeo and standing generally. First, in Spokeo, the Supreme Court simply acknowledged what had previously been accepted jurisprudence as to who determines whether a consumer has been “harmed.” “In determining whether an intangible harm constitutes injury in fact, both history and the judgment of Congress play important roles” as “Congress is well positioned to identify intangible harms that meet minimum Article III requirements” and thus “its judgment is also


4 This is also not a remarkable or new burden. As the Court explained in a §1681e(b) case, “[A] consumer reporting agency violates § 1681e(b) if (1) the consumer report contains inaccurate information and (2) the reporting agency did not follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy.” Dalton, 257 F.3d at 415.” Soutter v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, 307 F.R.D. 183, 193 (E.D. Va. 2015)

19
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instructive and important.” Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549-50. And this is important (and obvious) – merely showing “a statutory violation” is not enough to create Article III injury in fact. There must be “harm.” But as above, Congress is afforded the discretion to decide what constitutes harm. Id. (“Thus, we said in Lujan that Congress may “elevat[e] to the status of legally cognizable injuries concrete, de facto injuries that were previously inadequate in law.” 504 U.S., at 578, 112 S.Ct. 2130. Similarly, Justice Kennedy's concurrence in that case explained that “Congress has the power to define injuries and articulate chains of causation that will give rise to a case or controversy where none existed before.” Id., at 580, 112 S.Ct. 2130 (opinion concurring
in part and concurring in judgment)).5   “In other words, a plaintiff in such a case need not allege

any additional harm beyond the one Congress has identified.” Id. Where as here, “there is a tight connection between the type of injury which [the consumer] alleges and the fundamental goals of the statutes which he sues under” the consumer has satisfied the concreteness threshold. Baur v. Veneman, 352 F.3d 625, 635 (2d Cir. 2003). As a sister court explained two days before this brief was drafted in a comparable TCPA case,
5 Of course and as explained above, a consumer could not merely “allege a bare procedural violation, divorced from any concrete harm, and satisfy the injury-in-fact requirement of Article III.” Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549-50. But this means much less than Defendants would hope. The case cited in Spokeo to explain that point is Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 497, 129 S. Ct. 1142, 1151, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2009), which considered an action by an environmental advocacy group to “prevent the United States Forest Service from enforcing regulations that exempt small fire-rehabilitation and timber-salvage projects from the notice, comment, and appeal process used by the Forest Service for more significant land management decisions” and in which the Court was asked to determine whether the group had “standing to challenge the regulations in the absence of a live dispute over a concrete application of those regulations.” Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 490, 129 S. Ct. 1142, 1147, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2009). Such abstract procedural rights are distinct from ones in this case that pertain each to a specific consumer and the violation of the FCRA that pertained very specifically to that individual consumer. Plaintiffs here are not seeking to vindicate the rights of the world at large, but rather the Defendants’ conduct as it pertained specifically to them.
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While Congress may not entirely abrogate the injury requirement, it may statutorily define injuries and chains of causation that would not have existed absent the statute. Specifically, Congress may, by statute, transform a previously non-concrete injury into one that is concrete and therefore sufficient to confer standing. With respect to the TCPA, the Eleventh Circuit has held that Congress intended to create a concrete injury where the statute was violated, meaning so long as the plaintiff has been affected personally by the conduct that violates the statute, standing exists. There, the Eleventh Circuit found standing in a junk-fax scenario under the TCPA, despite the fact that there was no evidence that anyone ever printed or saw the junk faxes at issue.

Rogers v. Capital One Bank (USA), N.A., 1:15-CV-4016-TWT, 2016 WL 3162592, at *2 (N.D. Ga. June 7, 2016).
Further, Congress can also define the “chains of causation that will give rise” to such harm. Congress can define “accuracy” or whether a disclosure is clear and understandable. It can determine ex ante what procedures risk identity theft. The consumer plaintiff then need only prove what Congress says must be proven to establish the chain of causation to such harm. The Court necessarily must defer to Congress’ determinations of harm and the statutory rights necessary to prevent that harm. To simply pick and chose or ignore certain statutorily created rights enacted for a stated Congressional purpose through standing would improperly “thwart congressional intent” and fail to “decide concrete cases that Congress wants adjudicated” rather than “effectuate Congress' clearly expressed language and intent.” Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 156 (4th Cir. 2000)
This is particularly so with determining “risk of harm”, a cognizable path to injury in fact. Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549 (“This does not mean, however, that the risk of real harm cannot satisfy the requirement of concreteness.”) In fact, “The Supreme Court has consistently recognized that threatened rather than actual injury can satisfy Article III standing requirements. See, e.g., Valley Forge, 454 U.S. at 472, 102 S.Ct. 752; Gladstone Realtors v. Village of Bellwood, 441 U.S. 91, 99, 99 S.Ct. 1601, 60 L.Ed.2d 66 (1979). “[O]ne does not have to await
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the consummation of threatened injury to obtain preventive relief. If the injury is certainly impending that is enough.” Babbitt v. United Farm Workers Nat'l Union, 442 U.S. 289, 298, 99 S.Ct. 2301, 60 L.Ed.2d 895 (1979) (internal quotation marks omitted). Threats or increased risk thus constitutes cognizable harm.” Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 164-64 (4th Cir. 2000).
Spokeo merely reinforced rather than departed from these established principles.

B. The defendants’ section 1681k(a) violation constitutes informational injury and material risk of harm, both of which support Article III standing here.

The defendants do not dispute that, as the plaintiffs have alleged, SafeRent did not provide  consumers  with  “notice  that  it  was  furnishing  an  employment  purposed  consumer report,” in clear violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a). Instead, they denigrate (at 1, 6) the plaintiffs’ section 1681k claim as alleging “a bare statutory violation of a procedural right” or a “technical violation[]” insufficiently concrete to support Article III standing. But as Plaintiffs point out ante,  Spokeo held that “the violation of a procedural right granted by statute can be sufficient in some circumstances to constitute injury in fact”—for instance, where it “entail[s] a degree of risk sufficient to meet the concreteness requirement,” or where the harms that flow from the violation align with the harm that Congress “sought to curb” in enacting the statute. 136 S. Ct. at 1549–50. Both are true here. The defendants’ failure to comply with section 1681k(a) posed a “material risk of harm” to consumers that expressly motivated Congress to enact the FCRA— namely, the risk that inaccuracies in the information that the defendants reported to other users would adversely affect consumers’ employment prospects. And, in defying the FCRA’s mandate to  provide  consumers  with  information  concerning  the  use  of  their  consumer  reports,  the defendants also caused the plaintiffs to suffer a separate, informational injury. As we explain,
either of these concrete harms is sufficient to establish Article III standing here.
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The Second  Amended Complaint  correctly alleged  that the  contemporaneous notice requirement at 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(1) “is intended to provide consumers immediate notice of the furnishing of the employment report and details necessary to preemptively contact the consumer-reporting agency to obtain and, as appropriate, correct information in the furnished report” and “to alert the consumer to the employer’s use of the report to provide them the opportunity to address any concerns or derogatory history in the report directly with the employer.” SAC, ¶3. Defendants do not challenge this stated purpose.
1. Risk of harm. As detailed above, Spokeo expressly recognized that “the risk of real harm” can be enough, on its own, to satisfy the concreteness requirement. 136 S. Ct. at 1549. 6 In particular, where Congress has found that a violation of a statutory right poses a “material risk of harm,” a plaintiff “need not allege any additional harm beyond the one Congress has identified.” Id. at 1549–50; see also id. at 1553 (Thomas, J., concurring) (“A plaintiff seeking to vindicate a statutorily created private right need not allege actual harm beyond the invasion of that private right.”).
That principle governs here. “Congress enacted FCRA in 1970 out of concerns about abuses in the consumer reporting industry.” Dalton v. Capital Associated Indus., Inc., 257 F.3d 409, 414 (4th Cir. 2001) (citing S. Rep. No. 91–517, at 3 (1969)). As one legislator remarked, “with the trend toward . . . the establishment of all sorts of computerized data banks, the individual is in great danger of having his life and character reduced to impersonal ‘blips' and key-punch holes in a stolid and unthinking machine which can literally ruin his reputation


6 Before Spokeo, too, the Court recognized that “substantial risk” of harm could support Article III standing, including in cases brought by private plaintiffs. Monsanto Co. v. Geertson Seed Farms, 561 U.S. 139, 154–55 (2010) (holding “substantial risk” of injury to plaintiff alfalfa growers “sufficiently concrete to satisfy the injury-in-fact prong of the constitutional standing analysis”); see also Clapper v. Amnesty Int’l USA, 133 S. Ct. 1138, 1150, 185 L. Ed. 2d 264 (2013); Remijas v. Neiman Marcus Grp., LLC, 794 F.3d 688, 693 (7th Cir. 2015).
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without cause, and make him unemployable.” 116 Cong. Rec. 36570 (1970). Thus, aware that “in too many instances agencies were reporting inaccurate information that was adversely affecting the ability of individuals to obtain employment . . . Congress adopted a variety of measures designed to insure that agencies report accurate information.” Id. at 414–15. And, as the Fourth Circuit explained in Dalton, section 1681k was one of these “measures,” “deal[ing] with the procedures consumer reporting agencies must follow when collecting and transmitting information.” Id. at 415; see also Bryant v. TRW, Inc., 689 F.2d 72, 78 (6th Cir. 1982) (noting that, in enacting the FCRA, “Congress evinced its desire that agencies that assemble conventional credit reports be more than conduits of information and its belief that accurate credit information is as important as accurate personal information”). Indeed, Spokeo itself described the risk-of-harm principle by reference to the FCRA, explaining that when Congress passed the statute it identified an important injury—“the dissemination of false information”— and “plainly sought to curb” the harm flowing from that injury “by adopting procedures designed to decrease th[e] risk” of dissemination. Id. at 1550.
Section 1681k(a) is constructed in a manner than can only be fairly summarized as follows: If a CRA that is the type that furnishes for employment purposes consumer reports that contain adverse public records, and it does not maintain strict procedures designed to ensure that those reports are complete and up to date, then it must send a contemporaneous notice detailed at
§1681k(a)(1). As the Court is certainly aware, with these Defendants, this claim has been characterized as requiring the consumer to disprove the presence of §1681k(a)(2) procedures before he can assert a violation of the §1681k(a)(1) notice provision. Henderson v. Corelogic Nat’l Background Data, 2016 WL 1574048, at *10 (E.D. Va. Apr. 18, 2016). But either way, Plaintiffs here have sufficiently alleged that Defendants furnished incomplete reports about them.
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Congress has already determined that such a condition – being subject to incomplete employment reports containing public records that are likely to be adverse to a consumer’s employment opportunities is a defined substantive harm.
Yet Section 1681k(a)(1)’s notice requirement is one of those procedures that Congress designed to ameliorate the risk of the dissemination of incomplete information. By notifying consumers when public record information “likely to have an adverse effect upon [their] ability to obtain employment” is reported to users of that information, 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(1), consumers are able to take steps to prevent false information and inaccuracies from harming their employment prospects. Indeed, the facts of this very case demonstrate how those risks become reality in the absence of compliance with the FCRA. The information that the defendants transmitted to Ms. Witt’s potential employer contained criminal conviction records “concern[ing] one or more different individuals with a similar name” and “inaccurately stated that  she  had  an  extensive  criminal  history,  which  included  several  felonies  and  a  prison
sentence.” Compl. ¶¶ 29, 30.7 If the defendants had provided Ms. Witt with her statutorily

mandated notice, she might have been able to prevent the transmission of the false information to her employer—or, at the very least, take steps to correct that information after the fact. That is exactly why Congress enacted section 1681k in the first place. See Dalton, 257 F.3d at 414–15.
Conspicuously, the defendants fail to engage with any of these principles or even to mention Congress—despite Spokeo’s express instruction to consider “the judgment of Congress” given that it “is well positioned to identify intangible harms that meet minimum Article III requirements.” 136 S. Ct. at 1549. Instead, the defendants ignore the plaintiffs’ allegations and



7 Despite these specific (and troubling) allegations, the defendants somehow claim (at 9) that Ms. Witt did not allege “what was incomplete with respect to any of the records returned by NBD to her prospective employer.”
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attack the plaintiffs for not alleging facts that are entirely irrelevant to whether they have demonstrated Article III standing.
For instance, the defendants assert (at 8) that “the Complaint fails to allege any facts demonstrating that the information NBD allegedly supplied about the Newly Named Plaintiffs was incomplete, outdated, or inaccurate.” But, as the plaintiffs alleged, “the public records [the defendants] furnish[] to third parties are summaries, indexes, or partial records that it obtains from its courthouse sources,” and that the defendants “never furnish[] the complete and up-to- date public records.” SAC, ¶ 43. And the plaintiffs further alleged that the defendants “purchased or obtained criminal records in bulk and thus without identifying information, such as social security numbers.” Id. ¶ 44. “When standing is challenged on the pleadings,” as is the case here, the Fourth Circuit has instructed courts to “accept as true all material allegations of the complaint and construe the complaint in favor of the complaining party.” David v. Alphin, 704 F.3d 327, 333 (4th Cir. 2013); see also Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561. And in any event, “[t]he statutory language in § 1681k(a) does not necessarily require an “inaccuracy” in order to invoke the notification protections”; where a plaintiff has “sufficiently alleged facts to establish [the defendant’s] failure to notify” him as required under section 1681k(a)(1), the plaintiff’s “claim survives Rule 12 scrutiny.” Brown v. Lowe’s Cos., Inc., 52 F. Supp. 3d 749, 759 (W.D.N.C. 2014). If an allegation as to inaccuracy is not required to establish a prima facie claim on the merits, it makes no sense to require for Article III standing purposes.
The defendant also contends (at 9) that the plaintiffs’ failure to explain “how any incomplete data returned by [the defendants] affected their employment prospects in any way” is fatal to their Article III standing. But that’s entirely irrelevant. Congress required that consumer reporting agencies provide consumers with the required notice whenever they report “items of
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information on consumers which are matters of public record and are likely to have an adverse effect upon a consumer’s ability to obtain employment.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a) (emphasis added). This Court recognized that point in the Henderson case against these very same defendants: “Section 1681k(a) simply does not require that a particular public record actually adversely affect a particular consumer's employment prospects. Rather, this section governs items of information that are ‘likely’ to have an adverse effect.” Henderson v. Corelogic Nat’l Background Data, 2016 WL 1574048, at *10 (E.D. Va. Apr. 18, 2016) (emphasis). Indeed, “[w]hether an employer ultimately relies on or even receives any given criminal record provided
by [the defendants] does not alter that acknowledged state of affairs.” Id.8

In enacting the FCRA, Congress “identif[ied] the injury it seeks to vindicate”—the risk of disseminating false information—and “related th[at] injury to the class of persons entitled to bring suit”—consumers, like the plaintiffs, who potentially could suffer adverse employment actions as a result of that dissemination. Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. 497, 516 (2007). Spokeo did not change the fact that courts should afford “substantial deference” to the “predictive judgments of Congress”—which underlie nearly every policy decision Congress makes about consumer protection—because Congress “is far better equipped than the judiciary to amass and evaluate the vast amount of data bearing upon” legislative questions. Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. F.C.C., 512 U.S. 622, 665 (1994). Rather, Spokeo confirmed that Congress’s judgment in identifying concrete harm is “instructive and important.” 136 S. Ct. at 1549.





8 The defendants also point out (at 8) that the plaintiffs do not identify “the employers and job positions sought,” nor do they “provide the approximate date they allege that [the defendants] were involved in any of their alleged efforts to obtain employment.” How those facts relate to the question whether the plaintiffs have standing to bring their section 1681k(a) claims is left unexplained.
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What’s more, the dissemination of false information is a harm that “has a close relationship to a harm that traditionally been regarded as providing a basis for a lawsuit in English or American courts”—for example, slander, libel, or defamation. Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549. Spokeo itself expressly recognized that “common law permitted suit in such instances,” even though the “harms may be difficult to prove or measure.” Id. Put differently, there is no question that the dissemination of false information is a concrete harm sufficient for Article III standing. And Spokeo makes clear that “risk[s] of real harm”—like the dissemination of false information—are equally concrete, so long as Congress has identified that risk of harm and related it to a class of individuals. 136 S. Ct. at 1549; Lujan, 504 U.S. at 580 (Kennedy, J., concurring). Congress did so with the FCRA, and so this Court should conclude that  the plaintiffs have Article III standing on their section 1681k claims.
2. Informational injury.  The deprivation  of information to  which the plaintiffs are statutorily entitled also constitutes a distinct cognizable concrete harm—indeed, it is a classic form of informational injury that the Supreme Court in Spokeo recognized “constitutes a sufficiently distinct injury to provide standing to sue.” 136 S. Ct. at 1550 (quoting Pub. Citizen v. Dep’t of Justice, 491 U.S. 440, 449 (1989)). Citing to Federal Election Commission v. Akins, 524
U.S. 11 (1998), the Court in Spokeo explained that the “‘inability to obtain information’ that Congress had decided to make public is a sufficient injury in fact to satisfy Article III.” 136 S. Ct. at 1549; see also Cass R. Sunstein, Informational Regulation and Informational Standing: Akins and Beyond, 147 U. Penn. L. Rev. 613 (1999).
That is exactly what happened here. Congress, through the FCRA, decided that consumer reporting agencies like the defendants must “notify the consumer of the fact that public record information is being reported . . . , together with the name and address of the person to whom
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such information is being reported” whenever it reports on “matters of public record [that] are likely to have an adverse effect upon a consumer’s ability to obtain employment.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a). Put simply, a consumer has a statutory right to the information set forth in section 1681k(a). Nor is there any dispute here that the defendants entirely failed to provide the plaintiffs with that information. The plaintiffs’ “inability to obtain [that] information” is therefore, standing alone, “a sufficient injury in fact to satisfy Article III.” Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549. Indeed, this Court previously recognized that “the allegation of a deprivation of information is sufficient to satisfy the injury-in-fact requirement,” Ryals v. Strategic Screening Sols., Inc., 117
F. Supp. 3d 746, 753 (E.D. Va. 2015), and cited in particular to the Supreme Court precedent (like Akins) that Spokeo expressly reaffirmed. Numerous other courts, including the Fourth Circuit, have reached the same conclusion, relying on the very same Supreme Court case law. See, e.g., Doe v. Pub. Citizen, 749 F.3d 246, 263 (4th Cir. 2014) (observing that “[t]he Supreme Court consistently has held that a plaintiff suffers an Article III injury when he is denied information that must be disclosed pursuant to a statute”) Charvat v. Mut. First Fed. Credit Union, 725 F.3d 819, 823 (8th Cir. 2013) (noting that “the denial of a statutory right to receive information is sufficient to establish standing”); Am. Canoe Ass’n, Inc. v. City of Louisa Water & Sewer Comm’n, 389 F.3d 536, 542 (6th Cir. 2004) (holding that organizartional plaintiff had “standing to sue for its members’ informational injuries”); cf. Kathryn Zeiler & Kimberly D. Krawiec, Common-law Disclosure Duties and the Sin of Omission: Testing Meta-Theories, 91 Va. L. Rev. 1795–1882 (2005) (describing that failure to convey relevant information may violate the common law of contract or tort). There is no reason for this Court to retreat from this settled consensus.
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And the informational injury alleged here is also far more particularized than those recognized in Spokeo. In Public Citizen and Akins, the plaintiffs alleged that they had been deprived of information concerning other entities—for instance, “the names of candidates under consideration by the ABA Committee, reports and minutes of the Committee’s meetings, and advance notice of future meetings”—to which they were entitled under federal law. Pub. Citizen, 491 U.S. at 449; see Akins, 524 U.S. at 21 (seeking “lists of AIPAC . . . and campaign-related contributions and expenditures”). Here, by contrast, the plaintiffs have been deprived of information concerning themselves—and not just any information, but information that would allow them to respond to potential inaccuracies of the most personal nature, including criminal- history records. The plaintiffs have therefore demonstrated concrete and particularized harms more than sufficient to establish Article III injury-in-fact on their section 1681k claims.
C.	The plaintiffs also have standing on their alternative FCRA claims.

This Court should also hold that the plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged Article III injury- in-fact on their alternative FCRA claims under sections 1681b and 1681e. The defendants’ arguments regarding the plaintiffs’ 1681b claim are almost entirely unrelated to standing. Instead, they focus (at 13) on the merits, arguing that various regulations permit the kind of transfer that the plaintiffs have alleged is unlawful. Whether or not that’s true—and, in our view, it’s not—that issue is divorced from the question whether the plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged a particularized and concrete injury.
Indeed, this Court has already held that the plaintiffs’ allegations sufficiently state a 1681b claim to survive a motion to dismiss. See Dkt. No. 56, at 17–18. “[P]resum[ing],” as this Court must at this stage, that the complaint’s “general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim,” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561, there is no doubt that the
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defendants’ furnishing of the plaintiffs’ personal information to buyers without “a permissible purpose” constitutes a concrete harm. Far from being a “purely procedural violation,” the defendants’ alleged violation of section 1681b results in a classic form of cognizable harm: invasion of privacy. It is common sense that a party’s sale of deeply personal information about an individual  to a  user  for a  statutorily impermissible  use  harms that  individual’s privacy interests. And “concern[s]” about this exact kind of privacy harm underlie section 1681b’s “permissible purpose” requirements, S. Rep. No. 104-185, at 35 (1995); in enacting the FCRA, Congress specifically “sought to protect the privacy interests of employees and potential employees by narrowly defining the proper usage of these reports,” Kelchner v. Sycamore Manor Health Ctr., 305 F. Supp. 2d 429, 435 (M.D. Pa. 2004). The privacy harm at issue is not quantifiable as a monetary loss. But these harms are the very reason Congress created the statutory damage remedy and the restrictions established to protect such privacy. “[I]ndividual losses, if any, are likely to be small—a modest concern about privacy, a slight chance that information would leak out and lead to identity theft. That actual loss is small and hard to quantify is  why  statutes  such  as  the  Fair  Credit  Reporting  Act”  provide statutory  damage remedies for these violations. Murray v. GMAC Mortgage Corp., 434 F.3d 948, 953 (7th Cir. 2006). The more instances in which a consumer’s deeply personal information is released to a third party, the greater the risk of harm. “[E]ven a small probability of injury is sufficient to create a case or controversy—to take a suit out of the category of the hypothetical—provided of course that the relief sought would, if granted, reduce the probability.” Vill. of Elk Grove Vill. v. Evans, 997 F.2d 328, 329 (7th Cir.1993).
This harm has also “traditionally been regarded as providing a basis for a lawsuit,” confirming its concreteness. Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549; see Restatement (Second) of Torts §
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652A (noting that, for more than 100 years, courts have recognized that “[o]ne who invades the right of privacy of another is subject to liability for the resulting harm to the interests of the other”); Louis D. Brandeis, The Right to Privacy, 4 Harv. L. Rev. 193, 198 (1890) (describing common-law origins “of a general right to privacy”). Thus, “both history and the judgment of Congress” compel finding that the plaintiffs have established Article III injury-in-fact on their section 1681b claim. Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549.
Nor need this Court revisit the plaintiffs’ section 1681e(e) claim, which, as this Court and the defendants agree, rises or falls with their section 1681b claim. See Dkt. 56, at 19–20; Defs. Mot. 14 n.4. With section 1681e(e), Congress sought to “prohibit[] procurers of reports from reselling them except under narrow circumstances where the procurer can show, among other things, that a permissible purpose justifies the end-users’ anticipated ‘uses.’” Geiling v. Wirt Fin. Servs., Inc., 2014 WL 8473822, at *16 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 31, 2014). Section 1681e(e), in other words, serves the same aim as section 1681b: to reduce the reputational and privacy harms to consumers that result from the improper use of consumer reports. The plaintiffs’ allegations that the defendants violated this section, then, establish the same cognizable, concrete harm described above. This Court should hold that the plaintiffs have Article III standing.
V. THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANTS’ VENUE MOTION AS ALL OF THE NAMED PLAINTIFFS RESIDE IN THIS DISTRICT AND DIVISION, ALL CLAIMS AROSE HERE AND DEFENDANTS ARE NOT MEANINGFULLY INCONVIENIENCED BY THE CONDUCT OF DISCOVERY HERE.

Plaintiffs have fully addressed the Defendants’ venue challenge in their original response briefs. The Court has now twice properly rejected these challenges as to the named Plaintiffs and Defendants do not suggest any specific basis for reversing these earlier decisions.
VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, Defendants’ Motion should be denies.
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Respectfully Submitted,
PLAINTIFFS,
on behalf of themselves and on behalf of all similarly situated individuals,



By:	/s/ 	 Leonard Anthony Bennett (VSB #37523) CONSUMER LITIGATION ASSOCIATES, PC
12515 Warwick Blvd., Suite 1000 Newport News, Virginia 23606 lenbennett@clalegal.com
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